






MINUTES 
City of Castle Hills 
City Council Meeting  
October 14, 2025 
Page 1 of 10 

 
These minutes have been prepared to satisfy the requirements of Section 551.021 of the Texas 
Government Code. Video recordings of most City meetings can be obtained at 
https://www.cityofcastlehills.com/2220/City-Meeting-Videos . 
 

City of Castle Hills, Texas 
Regular City Council Meeting  

October 14, 2025 
Meeting Duration: 6:30 p.m. to 8:49 p.m. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Treviño called the Regular Session of the Castle Hills City Council to order at 6:30 p.m. on 
Tuesday, October 14, 2025, in the City Hall Council Chambers, 209 Lemonwood Drive, Castle 
Hills, Texas 78213. 
 
Members of City Council Present:    Members of City Council Absent:  
Mayor JR Treviño                None 
Council Member Jason Smith Place 1 
Council Member Denise Haley Place 2 
Council Member Kurt May, Place 3 
Council Member Jack Joyce, Place 4 
Mayor Pro-Tem Beth Daines Place 5 (by Zoom) 
 
City Staff Present: City Manager Chris Duque, Assistant to the City Manager Luis Zamarron, City 
Attorney Marc Schnall, City Secretary Nichole Heinrich, Fiscal Officer Nora Davis, Police Chief 
Gary McHone, Fire Chief James Ladewig, and Public Works Director Rick Harada.  
 
2. INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGEIANCE 

Fire Chief James Ladewig led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS/PRESENTATONS 

N/A 
 

4. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
Mr. George Booth, 124 Dogwood Ln., addressed the council regarding the condition of street 
striping on West Ave., stating that it needs to be redone for improved visibility and safety. 
 
Mr. Kevin Knippa, 210 Hibiscus Ln., raised concerns about the use of pesticides within city 
limits, questioning their legality. He requested that the council investigate the matter to ensure 
compliance with relevant regulations. 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
5.1 Approval of the Regular City Council Minutes, September 9, 2025 
5.2 Accept the Financial Report for period ending August 31, 2025 
5.3 Adopt Ordinance 2025-10-14 recognizing The San Antonio Express News as the City’s 

Official Newspaper. 
 

https://www.cityofcastlehills.com/2220/City-Meeting-Videos


Page 2 of 10 

 

MOTION: Councilmember May moved to adopt Consent Agenda Item Nos. 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 with 
corrections to 5.1. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. Council voted 5-0. Motion 
carried. 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS 
6.1 Discussion and Possible Action on appointments to the Board of Adjustment. 

Alternate  
Mayor Treviño recommended Mr. Joseph Cuellar as alternate to the Board of Adjustment. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember Joyce made a motion to appoint Joseph Cuellar as alternate to the 
Board of Adjustment. Councilmember Haley seconded the motion. Council voted 5-0. Motion 
carried. 

 
6.2 Public Hearing on an application submitted by Trey Batchelder, for a substantial 

remodeling of an office building at 6803 West Ave, legal description CB 5778 BLK 8 
LOT 6A, 9 thru 12 in the City of Castle Hills, Bexar County, Texas. 
Mayor Treviño opened the public hearing at 6:35 p.m. 
 
Mr. Bruce Smiley-Kaliff, 247 Fox Hall Dr., addressed the council in support of Mr. Batchelder’s 
request.  
 
Mayor Treviño closed the public hearing at 6:36 p.m. 
 

6.3 Discussion and Possible Action on an application submitted by Trey Batchelder, for a 
substantial remodeling of an office building at 6803 West Ave, legal description CB 
5778 BLK 8 LOT 6A, 9 thru 12 in the City of Castle Hills, Bexar County, Texas. 
Mr. Trey Batchelder, 245 Fox Hall Ln., addressed the council mentioning he would be happy 
to answer any questions the council may have regarding his request. 
 
Mr. Duque reported that the Architectural Review Committee met on September 10th to 
consider the application in question. The application was approved by a 4-1 vote by the 
Architectural Review Committee.   
 

MOTION: Councilmember Joyce made a motion to approve an application submitted by Trey 
Batchelder, for a substantial remodeling of an office building at 6803 West Ave, legal 
description CB 5778 BLK 8 LOT 6A, 9 thru 12 in the City of Castle Hills, Bexar County, Texas. 
Councilmember May seconded the motion. Council voted 5-0. Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Treviño amended the order of the agenda moving to item 6.5. 
 

6.5 Discussion and Possible Action to give the Zoning Commission direction regarding 
possible amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to allow market events other than 
“farmer’s markets” in a “G” General Business District. 
Mr. Duque noted that during the August 12th meeting, Mr. Timothy Denker, owner of Castle 
Hills Market, addressed the Council to request a change to the City ordinance. His request 
involved allowing both a Temporary Use Permit and a Temporary Sign Permit to 
accommodate occasional events at his business location. 

Mr. Duque explained that if the City Council was inclined to support this request, staff would 
need direction to relay to the Zoning Commission to begin exploring possible amendments 



Page 3 of 10 

 

to the Zoning Ordinance. Specifically, staff recommends directing the Zoning Commission to 
consider allowing market events beyond “farmer’s markets” in the “G” General Business 
District. 

Councilmember Daines asked what specific direction the Zoning Commission would require 
regarding possible amendments. City Attorney Schnall responded that a simple directive—to 
explore allowing market events other than farmers markets in the “G” General Business 
District—would provide sufficient guidance. Mr. Schnall further explained that the current 
ordinance lists approximately 20–25 permitted uses in the “G” district. However, it also 
contains a catch-all provision that allows other uses through a Special Use Permit (SUP). 
Amending the ordinance would eliminate the need for a SUP each time a business owner 
wished to hold a market event. 
 
Councilmember Haley sought clarification on whether the property owner would currently be 
required to obtain a SUP for each event. Mr. Schnall confirmed that any event not currently 
listed as a permitted use would require a SUP. He added that Mr. Denker could submit an 
application to be considered by the Zoning Commission on November 4, 2025, with a 
recommendation possibly being made to the City Council at the November 18, 2025 regular 
meeting. 
 
Mr. Duque noted that the business owner is interested in holding market events on a monthly 
or bi-monthly basis, inviting both local and outside vendors. Councilmember Haley 
commented that these events would bring increased opportunities to shop locally. 
 
Councilmember May expressed support for the initiative but hoped the Zoning Commission 
would consider including a “fair description requirement” in any proposed ordinance 
amendment. 
 
Mayor Treviño inquired whether the Zoning Commission would be able to address potential 
traffic concerns resulting from market events. Mr. Schnall clarified that while any permitted 
use would follow the rules in the “G” district (which includes parking requirements), traffic 
control would fall under the responsibility of the police department. Council would also retain 
authority to address any broader issues as needed. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember Daines made a motion to direct the Zoning Commission regarding 
possible amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to allow market events other than “farmer’s 
markets” in a “G” General Business District. Councilmember Haley seconded the motion. 
Council voted 5-0. Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Treviño amended the order of the agenda moving to item 6.8. 
 

6.8 Discussion and Possible Action regarding a request from Wayne Carter and Wade 
Middleton regarding the abandonment of the “alleyway” between their properties at 
124 Winston Lane and 201 Winston Lane. 
Mr. Duque provided an update regarding a request initially made in February by Mr. Wayne 
Carter, 124 Winston Ln., and Mr. Wade Middleton, 201 Winston Ln., asking the City to consider 
abandoning the "alleyway" located between their properties. 

At the September 9th City Council meeting, the request was presented; however, no action 
was taken at that time. A key question raised during the discussion was whether the property 



Page 4 of 10 

 

in question was an easement or a public right-of-way (ROW). Documentation subsequently 
submitted by Mr. Carter confirms that the property is indeed a public right-of-way, although 
the precise width remains unclear (either 50 feet or 60 feet). 

Staff recommended postponing any action on the matter to allow time for further review. 
Specifically, one of the required procedural steps for the abandonment of City-owned property 
is to notify all potential easement holders and obtain written confirmation from each utility 
provider that the abandonment would not negatively impact their operations. This step has 
not yet been completed. There is a possibility that CPS Energy may oppose the abandonment, 
which could render the request moot. 

City Attorney Schnall stated he had spoken with Ms. Fernandez last week regarding the 
documents submitted. He noted that the materials included incomplete information, including 
blank sections such as the legal description and deed form. As a result, the documents are 
not yet ready for formal consideration or action. Mr. Schnall agreed with the City Manager’s 
recommendation to ensure no objections are raised by utility companies before proceeding 
with any decision regarding the potential abandonment of the public right-of-way. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember May made a motion to table item 6.8 to the next regular scheduled 
council meeting. Councilmember Haley seconded the motion. 

 
Mayor Treviño asked for confirmation that there would be adequate time to receive responses 
from the utility providers. Mr. Duque responded that he would reach out to Ms. Carrillo at 
CPS Energy the following morning and would stress the urgency of receiving a response 
within three (3) weeks. 
 
Mayor Treviño mentioned the motion has been made and seconded. Council voted 5-0. 
Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Treviño amended the order of the agenda moving to item 6.6. 
 

6.6 Discussion and Possible Action to give the Zoning Commission direction regarding 
possible amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to revise the parking requirements for 
non-residential development.  

Councilmember Joyce reported that the Economic Development Committee has recently 
reviewed the parking ordinance, particularly as it relates to commercial development. 

He noted that a complaint had been received from a developer who was interested in 
revitalizing the center in Castle Hills Village but was unable to move forward due to 
insufficient parking under the current ordinance requirements. 

In response, Councilmember Joyce and Mr. Barry Middleman conducted a parking survey of 
several major shopping centers within the city, with a focus on mixed-use areas that include 
both restaurants and retail establishments. Their findings indicated that many existing 
shopping centers do not comply with the current parking code. 

Councilmember Joyce stated that he and Mr. Middleman are working on a specific 
recommendation to present to the Zoning Commission, aimed at adjusting parking 
requirements in commercial areas to better reflect actual use and encourage development. 



Page 5 of 10 

 

 
MOTION: Councilmember Haley made a motion to give the Zoning Commission direction 

regarding possible amendments to the Zoning Ordinance to revise the parking requirements 
for non-residential development. Councilmember Joyce seconded the motion.  

 
Councilmember Haley added that she hopes the Zoning Commission will revise the parking 
ordinance with a focus on positively impacting economic development and supporting 
individuals and businesses looking to make significant investments in the city. 
 
Mayor Treviño mentioned the motion has been made and seconded. Council voted 5-0. 
Motion carried. 
 

6.7 Discussion and Possible Action on Ordinance No. 2025-10-14-A, amending the City of 
Castle Hills fee schedule removing the alcoholic beverage fee if the business holds a 
food license.  
Mr. Duque informed the Council of Senate Bill 1008, which preempts a city's authority to 
charge a local license or permit fee under the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Code if the 
establishment holds a food license. 

To comply with this new state law, Proposed Ordinance No. 2025-10-14 seeks to amend 
Section 4.27 of Chapter 4 – Alcoholic Beverages of the City's Code of Ordinances. The 
amendment includes the following provision: 

In accordance with Senate Bill 1008, effective September 1, 2025, no mixed beverage on-
premises permit fee shall be levied by the City if the establishment has an Annual Food 
License in accordance with Chapter 20, Health and Sanitation, Article II. Food Service 
Establishments. 

While the City will continue to require a mixed beverage on-premises permit, no fee will be 
assessed for such permits if the premises also holds a valid Annual Food License. Mr. Duque 
noted that the permit remains necessary due to its relevance in evaluating other potential 
regulatory impacts. 

Additionally, staff identified inconsistencies within the Master Fee Schedule, specifically non-
matching references to code sections, which will be corrected. These updates, along with the 
changes resulting from Senate Bill 1008, will be included in the revised and corrected Master 
Fee Schedule. 

MOTION: Councilmember Haley made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2025-10-14-A, amending 
the City of Castle Hills fee schedule removing the alcoholic beverage fee if the business holds 
a food license. Councilmember May seconded the motion.  

 
Councilmember Joyce asked whether this change would have a significant impact on the 
City’s sales tax revenue. Mr. Duque clarified that sales tax will not be affected. However, he 
noted that the anticipated revenue loss from permit fees will be approximately $8,000. He 
added that some cities may choose to adjust their food permit fees to offset this reduction. 
Currently, the City of Castle Hills has approximately twenty (20) existing permits that will be 
impacted by this change. 

 



Page 6 of 10 

 

Mayor Treviño mentioned the motion has been made and seconded. Council voted 5-0. 
Motion carried. 

 
Mayor Treviño amended the order of the agenda moving to item 6.9. 

 
6.9 Discussion and Possible Action on amending the Agreement for Engineering Services 

with Bain Medina Bain, Inc. to perform easement acquisition services for a possible 
drainage project (Castle Hills Drainage Watershed II Phase I – Mimosa / Krameria to 
West Ave) and authorize the City Manager to sign such engagement. 
Mr. Duque provided an update on the Castle Hills Drainage Watershed II Phase I – Mimosa 
/ Krameria to West Ave project. He reminded the Council that at the April 9, 2024, meeting, 
the City approved a work authorization with Bain Medina Bain LLC (BMB) for engineering 
services related to this project, with a contract amount of $185,000, funded through the 2023 
Certificates of Obligation. The initial project scope includes the design of channel 
reconstruction from east of Mimosa to West Ave; installation of box culverts at the Mimosa 
and Krameria crossings; hydrology and hydraulics analysis of existing and proposed 
conditions; and a limited field survey of the project area. The improvements involve upgrading 
the culverts to increase conveyance capacity and constructing a wider channel with concrete 
lining. The City is coordinating with San Antonio Water System (SAWS) regarding sewer 
easements within the channel. During their fieldwork, BMB determined that twelve (12) 
easements; either for drainage or sanitary sewer—would need to be acquired. Mr. Duque 
presented a proposed amendment to the work authorization to cover the additional scope of 
work, with an associated cost of $54,000, to be paid from the same bond funds. This 
expanded scope includes: 
 
• Deed and plat research 
• Preparation and issuance of right-of-entry letters 
• Fieldwork to locate boundary corners 
• Post-processing and boundary analysis 
• Preparation of plat documents, including a survey plat with metes and bounds descriptions 

 
The City will be responsible for assisting BMB in obtaining signatures from the impacted 
property owners as part of the easement acquisition process. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember Joyce made a motion to amend the Agreement for Engineering 
Services with Bain Medina Bain, Inc. to perform easement acquisition services for a possible 
drainage project (Castle Hills Drainage Watershed II Phase I – Mimosa / Krameria to West 
Ave) and authorize the City Manager to sign such engagement. Councilmember Haley 
seconded the motion.  

 
Mayor Treviño inquired about the potential impact of the project on residents owning property 
or living in the affected area. Mr. Duque referred to a drawing included in the meeting packet 
showing the approximate locations of the twelve (12) easements. He explained that some 
easements will be for construction only, while others may have a longer-term impact. 
However, Mr. Duque does not believe these easements will interfere with the infill or 
development of the lots. Mayor Treviño asked if there is an intention to rebuild fences that 
may need to be removed during construction. Mr. Duque responded that this matter will be 
coordinated during the construction phase, but he did not have a definitive answer at this 
time and would follow up. 
 



Page 7 of 10 

 

Councilmember Smith questioned whether the $54,000 estimated cost for the additional work 
is included in the current budget or if it represents an additional expense. Mr. Duque clarified 
that the amount will be paid from the existing Certificates of Obligation fund. Councilmember 
Smith also asked if San Antonio Water System (SAWS) would be responsible for covering 
their portion of the costs. Mr. Duque replied that, as of the August meeting, SAWS has not 
indicated any intention to share costs. Since it is a City of Castle Hills project, the City will 
bear the full expense, and no cost-sharing discussions have occurred. 
 
Councilmember May raised concerns from residents regarding the possibility of cementing 
natural creek beds and asked if the plans reflect this. Mr. Duque explained that the plans 
include areas with concrete lining as well as areas that will remain natural. He emphasized 
that it will not be a fully concrete-lined drainage ditch. Councilmember May asked if residents 
have been informed about this aspect. Mr. Duque responded that the information has not yet 
been shared with the public. 
 
Mayor Treviño mentioned the motion has been made and seconded. Council voted 5-0. 
Motion carried. 
 

6.10 Discussion and Possible Action on Change Order No. 2 for the Carolwood and Manton    
Drainage Project.  
Mr. Duque provided an update on the Carolwood and Manton Roadway and Drainage 
Improvements project. He noted that at the November 12, 2024 City Council meeting, the 
City awarded the construction contract to D. Plata Construction Company, LLC in the amount 
of $3,297,283.49. In May, Change Order No. 1 was approved, increasing the contract cost to 
$3,344,800.50. The proposed Change Order No. 2 (CO#2) is related to the San Antonio 
Water System (SAWS) and has a cost of $31,715.51. This change order addresses issues 
identified by the contractor during construction, including a water tie-in at the intersection of 
Carolwood and Lockhill Selma Road and conflicts with the elevation of an existing sanitary 
sewer line on N. Manton Lane. The sewer line was found to interfere with the proposed road 
base and subgrade treatment. As a result of CO#2, twenty (20) additional construction days 
will be added to the contract, adjusting the new project completion date to January 23, 2026. 
Mr. Duque stated that SAWS has agreed to contribute $237,360.23 toward the project. Since 
both Change Orders No. 1 and No. 2 are SAWS-related, their contribution will increase 
accordingly to offset these additional costs. He further noted that the terms of the existing 
interlocal agreement (ILA) do not require an amendment to reflect the increased contribution 
amount. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember Haley made a motion to approve Change Order No. 2 for the 
Carolwood and Manton Drainage Project. Councilmember May seconded the motion. 
Council voted 4-0-1 with Councilmember Smith abstaining. 

 
6.11 Discussion and Possible Action regarding the location of City Promotional Signs. 

Mr. Duque referenced the discussion at the March 11th City Council meeting regarding the 
placement of City promotional signs and the related agreement with TxDOT. Six locations 
had been selected for sign placement:  
1. NW Military north of the Interstate 410 frontage road 
2. Near the NW Military and Lockhill-Selma intersection 
3. West Avenue and Lockhill-Selma intersection 
4. Blanco Road and Lockhill-Selma intersection 



Page 8 of 10 

 

5. Near the Jackson Keller and Palm Circle intersection 
6. West Avenue north of the Interstate 410 frontage road 

 
A representative from TxDOT reviewed the plans and identified several issues: 
• The plans lack sufficient detail regarding the breakaway sign base; it was unclear 

whether the design meets TxDOT’s standard triangular base requirements. 
• The proposed signs are 72 inches wide; TxDOT suggested using a “T” style 

mount on the back of the signs instead of a single post for better support. 
• Sign #2 is oriented facing north toward southbound drivers, which limits visibility 

due to the road’s width. TxDOT recommended relocating the sign to the 
southbound side of the road near the city limits for improved visibility. 

• Sign #4 is too close to a traffic signal and likely cannot be installed due to 
underground signal cables and utilities. Additionally, this location is outside the 
City of Castle Hills. 

• Sign #5 is also outside City limits and would require approval from the City of 
San Antonio (CoSA). 

• Sign #6 is near an existing truck weight limit sign and should be relocated, ideally 
maintaining approximately 200 feet of spacing between signs. 
 

Mr. Duque proposed returning this item to the November regular City Council meeting with 
updated sign locations for further consideration. He also noted that the City is working with a 
new sign vendor who will handle the production and installation of the signs. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember May made a motion to table item 6.11 to the next regular scheduled 
council meeting. Councilmember Haley seconded the motion. Council voted 5-0. Motion 
carried. 
 

7.    EXECUTIVE SESSION  
7.1 Deliberation on the duties of the City Manager. Possible Executive Session pursuant 

to Section 551.074, Texas Government Code. 
The City Council of the City of Castle Hills convened into executive session at 7:21 p.m. in 
accordance with Texas Open Meetings Act, Sec. 551.074 (Personnel Matters) of the Texas 
Government Code 
 
The City Council of the City of Castle Hills reconvened in open session at 7:50 p.m. 
 

 Mayor Treviño announced no action taken in executive session. 
 
Mayor Treviño amended the order of the agenda moving to item 6.4. 

 
6.4 Deliberation on status of lawsuit styled Sylvia Gonzalez vs. City of Castle Hills; et al., 

Civil Action No. 5:20-cv-1151 and possible action.  Possible Executive Session 
pursuant to Texas Government Code 551.071, consultation with Attorneys. 
The City Council of the City of Castle Hills convened into executive session at 7:50 p.m. in 
accordance with Texas Open Meetings Act, Sec. 551.071 (Consultation with Attorneys) of the 
Texas Government Code 



Page 9 of 10 

 

 
The City Council of the City of Castle Hills reconvened in open session at 8:45 p.m. 

 
Councilmember Smith noted the City of Castle Hills and Sylvia Gonzalez have agreed to settle 
her lawsuit. Under the agreement, Ms. Gonzalez will receive $500,000, and an expanded 
training on First Amendment retaliation will be offered across Texas, and employees and 
officials of Castle Hills will attend this training. Plaintiff also agreed to dismiss the individual 
defendants and settle with the City alone which does not admit liability. The parties respect 
public service, do not condone violence of any sort, and are grateful for this peaceful 
resolution. This resolution of the litigation allows all involved to focus on positively serving their 
communities and fostering constructive public dialogue. 
 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith made a motion to approve the settlement and authorize the 
Mayor or his designee to execute the settlement agreement and all other related documents. 
Councilmember Haley seconded the motion. Council voted 5-0. Motion carried. 
 

8. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILMEMBERS ON ITEMS OF 
COMMUNITY INTEREST. 
Councilmember Haley reminded the community of the upcoming Passport to Flavor event, 
scheduled for November 4–8, 2025 in the City of Castle Hills. 
 
Councilmember May mentioned he is coordinating to set a date for the Historical Society 
meeting in November. 
 
Councilmember Daines reminded residents about the Trunk or Treat event on October 25, 
2025, starting at 5:30 p.m. at Castle Hills Elementary and continuing at the Commons at 6:30 
p.m. 
 
Mayor Treviño expressed appreciation for the fire and police departments’ participation in 
National Night Out. He also announced the opening of a new bookstore in the City of Castle 
Hills, Book Nerd. 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
MOTION: Councilmember May moved to adjourn. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. 

Council voted 5-0. The meeting adjourned at 8:49 p.m. 
 
I certify that these minutes were approved by the City Council on the 18th day of November 
2025. 
 
 
       CITY OF CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS   
        
 
       ___________________________ 
       JR Treviño, Mayor  
 



Page 10 of 10 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Nichole Heinrich, TRMC 
City Secretary   





















































































































AGENDA ITEM: 6.1  Public Hearing on a rezoning request for 
5703 Blanco Road, described as CB 5008 P-12 
(1.155) ABS 526 & P-11A (.312) ABS 526 from an 
“F” (Office and Professional 2-story) zoning 
district to a “G” (General Business) zoning 
district. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 12, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Public Hearing on a request from George Atallah, for a rezoning request for 5703 Blanco Road, Castle 
Hills, Texas, 78213, more particularly described as CB 5008 P-12 (1.155) ABS 526 & P-11A (.312) 
ABS 526, to rezone the property from an “F” Office and Professional 2-Story District to a “G” General 
Business District. 

BACKGROUND  
 

The property owner of 5703 Blanco Road, George Atallah has submitted a rezoning request from 
the “F” (Office and Professional 2-story) zoning district to the “G” (General Business) zoning district.  
The property owner seeks to open a medical clinic on the property, as well as to re-purpose one of 
existing buildings to a conference hall.  The existing zoning (F zoning district) prohibits this type of 
development.   

 
The public hearing will allow interested parties to ask questions, make statements, etc. regarding 
the request.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  APPLICATION AND INFORMATION – PUBLIC HEARING ON ZONING CHANGE 

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other X 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  



 Amount Under/Over Budget: 

PROs / CON’s  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
No action shall be taken.   

 

































AGENDA ITEM: 6.2  Discussion and possible action on Ordinance 
2025-11-18 on a request from George Atallah for 
a rezoning request for 5703 Blanco Road, 
described as CB 5008 P-12 (1.155) ABS 526 & P-
11A (.312) ABS 526 to rezoning the property 
from an “F” (Office and Professional 2-story) 
zoning district to a “G” (General Business) zoning 
district. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 12, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and Possible Action on Ordinance 2025-11-18 on a request from George Atallah, for a 
rezoning request for 5703 Blanco Road, Castle Hills, Texas, 78213, more particularly described as CB 
5008 P-12 (1.155) ABS 526 & P-11A (.312) ABS 526, to rezone the property from an “F” Office and 
Professional 2-Story District to a “G” General Business District. 

 
BACKGROUND  

 
The property owner of 5703 Blanco Road, George Atallah has submitted a rezoning request from 
the “F” (Office and Professional 2-story) zoning district to the “G” (General Business) zoning district.  
The property owner seeks to open a medical clinic on the property, as well as to re-purpose one of 
existing buildings to a conference hall.  The existing zoning (F zoning district) prohibits this type of 
development.   

 
Attached is the application and information that was submitted to the Zoning Commission.  Zoning 
met on November 4th to consider this request and unanimously recommended approval.  At the 
Zoning Commission meeting, there were questions regarding parking and accessibility, but the 
applicant addressed those to the satisfaction of the board members.   

 
ATTACHMENT:  APPLICATION AND INFORMATION – PUBLIC HEARING ON ZONING CHANGE 

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance X 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 



FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget: 

PROs / CON’s  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2025-11-18, authorizing the changing of the zoning of 5703 
Blanco Road from the “F” zoning district to the “G” zoning district. 



  
21911.0002/4912-2211-0071, v. 1 

The City of Castle Hills, Texas 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-11-18 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CASTLE HILLS, 
TEXAS CHANGING THE ZONING OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 5703 
BLANCO ROAD, CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS, FROM “F TWO STORY OFFICE-
PROFESSIONAL DISTRICT” TO “G GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT” 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Castle Hills received an application from George Alattah to change the 
zoning of the property located at 5703 Blanco Road, Castle Hills, Texas, more particularly described in 
Warranty Deed with Vendor’s Lien duly recorded under 5703 Blanco Road, Castle Hills, Texas, being 
legally described in a Warranty Deed with Vendor’s Lien duly erecorded as Document Number 
20240140092 in the Official Public eRecords of Bexar County, Texas on August 1, 2024 (the “Property”) 
from “F Two Story Office-Professional District” to “G General Business District;” and 
 

WHEREAS, notices of a public hearing by the Zoning Commission as to the potential change in 
zoning of the Property were sent to the owners of property within 500 feet of the Property; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Zoning Commission of the City of Castle Hills held a public hearing on 

November 4, 2025, concerning the potential change in zoning of the Property from “F Two Story Office-
Professional District” to “G General Business District;” and 

 
WHEREAS, the Zoning Commission of the City of Castle Hills found that it was appropriate to 

recommend to the City Council of the City of Castle Hills that the zoning of the Property be changed 
from “F Two Story Office-Professional District” to “G General Business District;” and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on November 18, 2025, on the potential 
change in zoning of the Property from “F Two Story Office-Professional District” to “G General Business 
District;” and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council believes that it is appropriate to change the zoning of the Property 
from “F Two Story Office-Professional District” to “G General Business District.”  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS, that the zoning of the property located at 5703 Blanco Road, Castle Hills, 
Texas, being legally described in a Warranty Deed with Vendor’s Lien duly erecorded as Document 
Number 20240140092 in the Official Public eRecords of Bexar County, Texas on August 1, 2024, be 
changed to “G General Business District.”    

 
 
 Passed and adopted on November 18, 2025. 
 
 
      ________________________ 
      J.R. TREVINO, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Nichole Heinrich, City Secretary  



AGENDA ITEM: 6.3  Discussion and possible action on Resolution 
2025-11-18 regarding the annual review of the 
City’s Investment Policy and Investment Strategy. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 12, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and Possible Action adopting Resolution 2025-11-18 regarding annual review of the 
Investment Policy and Investment Strategy of the City. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

By state statute, it is necessary for the City to annually review its Investment Policy.  I recommend 
the following revisions to the Policy: 
1) PURPOSE – language amended to better clarify the purpose of the policy 
2) RESPONSIBILITY AND CONTROL - add the City Manager as an Investment Officer 
3) SUITABLE AND AUTOHRIZED INVESTMENTS - add section on investments that are NOT 

authorized 
 

ATTACHMENT:  CITY OF CASTLE HILLS INVESTMENT POLICY Amended: November 18, 2025 
 

REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution X 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 

 



PROs / CON’s  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2025-11-18, reviewing and amending the City of Castle Hills 
Investment Policy. 



07318.0002 | 4867-1626-0085, v. 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-11-18 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CASTLE 
HILLS, TEXAS, REGARDING ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CITY’S 
INVESTMENT POLICY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code, commonly known as the 
“Public Funds Investment Act,” requires the City to adopt an investment policy and an investment 
strategy by rule, order, ordinance, or resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Funds Investment Act also requires the governing body to review 
its investment policy and investment strategy by rule, order, ordinance or resolution not less than 
annually, recording any changes made thereto; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Castle Hills has reviewed the City Investment 
Policy and Investment Strategy and determined that various amendments to the Investment Policy 
or Investment Strategy should be made at this time. 

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1.  The City Council has reviewed the Investment Policy and the Investment 
Strategy of the City of Castle Hills and has determined that various 
amendments to the Investment Policy or Investment Strategy should be 
made at this time. 

SECTION 2.  The City Council hereby confirms that the Investment Officers of the City 
are the City Treasurer, a current sitting member of the City Council, and the 
City Manager. 

PASSED, AND ADOPTED on the 18th day of November 2025. 

 
______________________________ 
J.R. Treviño, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Nichole Heinrich, TRMC 
City Secretary 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 1 of 14 
  

CITY OF CASTLE HILLS  
INVESTMENT POLICY  

Amended: November 18, 2025 
  
I.  POLICY  
  
It is the policy of the City of Castle Hills (herein after referred to as “City”) that after allowing 
for the anticipated cash flow requirements of the City and giving due consideration to the 
safety and risk of investment, all available funds shall be invested in conformance with these 
legal and administrative guidelines, seeking to optimize interest earnings to the maximum 
extent possible.   
  
Effective cash management is recognized as essential to good fiscal management.  Investment 
interest is a source of revenue to the City.  The City’s investment portfolio shall be designed 
and managed in a manner to be responsive to public trust, and to be in compliance with legal 
requirements and limitations.  Investments shall be made with the primary objectives of:  
  

• Safety and preservation of principal  
• Maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet operating needs  
• Public trust from prudent investment activities  
• Optimization of interest earnings on the portfolio  

  
II. PURPOSE  
  
The purpose of this Investment Policy is to set forth specific investment policy and strategy 
guidelines for the City in order to achieve the goals of safety, liquidity, yield, and public trust 
for all investment activity.  This policy serves to satisfy the statutory requirements 
(specifically the Public Funds Investment Act, V.T.C.A. Government Code, Chapter 2256 
(the “Act”) to define, adopt and review a formal investment strategy and policy.  The 
Investment Policy addresses the methods, procedures and practices that must be exercised to 
ensure effective and judicious fiscal management of the City’s funds.  
  
III. SCOPE  
  
This Investment Policy shall govern the investment of all financial assets of the City.  These 
funds are accounted for in the City’s Annual Financial Report and include:  
  

• General Fund   
• Crime Control Prevention District (CCPD) 
• Capital Projects Funds  
• Special Revenue Funds  
• Debt Service Funds, including reserves and sinking funds, to the extent not 

required by law or existing contract to be kept segregated and managed separately  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 2 of 14 
  

• Other funds established from time to time  
  
Except for cash in certain restricted and special funds, the City may consolidate cash and 
investment balances to ease cash management operations and maximize investment earnings.  
Investment income will be allocated to the various funds based on their respective 
participation and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  
  
This Investment Policy shall apply to all transactions involving the financial assets and related 
activity for all the foregoing funds.  However, this policy does not apply to the assets 
administered for the benefit of the City by outside agencies under deferred compensation 
programs or other post-employment benefits (OPEB) trust funds.  
  
IV. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY 
  
The City shall manage and invest its cash with five primary objectives, listed in order of 
priority: safety, liquidity, diversification, public trust, and yield, expressed as 
optimization of interest earnings.  The safety of the principal invested always remains the 
primary objective, while strategizing to safeguard a rate of return through diversification and 
proper liquidity.  All investments shall be designed and managed in a manner responsive to 
the public trust and consistent with State and local law.  
  
The City shall maintain a comprehensive cash management program, which includes 
collection of account receivables, vendor payments in accordance with invoice terms, and 
prudent investment of available cash.  Cash management is defined as the process of 
managing monies in order to insure maximum cash availability and maximum earnings on 
short-term investment of idle cash.  
  
1.  Safety  
  
Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program.  Investment for 
speculation is prohibited.  No individual or group of transactions shall be undertaken that 
would jeopardize the total capital sum of the overall portfolio. Adherence to the preferred 
investment listed in the investment policy will maximize safety.  Investments shall be 
undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the overall portfolio.    
The objective will be to mitigate credit and interest rate risk.  
  

A. Credit Risk – The City will minimize credit risk, the risk of loss due to the failure 
of the issuer or backer of the investment by:  

1. Limiting investments to the safest types of investments.  
2. Pre-qualifying the financial institutions and brokers/dealers with which 

the City will do business.  
3. Diversifying the investment portfolio so that potential losses on 

individual issuers will be minimized.  
  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 3 of 14 
  

B. Interest Rate Risk – the City will minimize the risk that the interest earnings and 
the market value of investments in the portfolio will fall due to changes in general 
interest rates, by:  

1. Structuring the investment portfolio so that investments mature to meet 
cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to 
liquidate investments prior to maturity.  

2. Investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, money 
market mutual funds, local government investment pools functioning as 
money market mutual funds, or certificates of deposit.  

3. Diversifying maturities and staggering (laddering) purchase dates to 
minimize the impact of market movements over time.  

  
2.  Liquidity  
  
The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating requirements 
that may be reasonably anticipated.  This is accomplished by structuring the portfolio so that 
investments mature concurrent with cash needs to meet anticipated demands (static liquidity).  
Because all possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely 
of securities with active secondary or resale markets (dynamic liquidity).  A portion of the 
portfolio also may be placed in money market mutual funds or local government investment 
pools that offer same-day liquidity.    
 
3.  Diversification  
  
The City will diversify its investments by market sector (security type and maturity, in order 
to minimize investment and market risk. The portfolio will be designed to avoid unreasonable 
risks within one market sector or from an individual institution.  
  
4.  Public Trust  
  
All participants in the City’s investment process shall seek to act responsibly as custodians of 
the public trust.  Investment officers shall avoid any transaction that might impair public 
confidence in the City’s ability to govern effectively.  
 
5.  Yield (Optimization of Interest Earnings)  
  
The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of 
return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the investment risk 
constraints and liquidity needs.  Return on investment is of secondary importance compared 
to the safety and liquidity objectives described above.    
  
The City of Castle Hills maintains portfolios which utilize four specific investment strategy 
considerations designed to address the unique characteristics of the fund groups represented 
in the portfolios: 
 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 4 of 14 
  

A. Investment strategies for operating funds and commingled pools containing operating 
funds have, as their primary objective, to ensure that anticipated cash flows are matched 
with adequate investment liquidity.  The secondary objective is to create a portfolio 
structure which will experience minimal volatility during economic cycles.   The dollar 
weighted average maturity of 365 days or less will be calculated using the stated final 
maturity date of each security. 
 

B. Investment strategies for debt service funds shall have as the primary objective the 
assurance of investment liquidity adequate to cover the debt service obligations on the 
required payment date.  Securities purchased shall not have a stated final maturity date 
which exceeds the debt service payment date. 
 

C. Investment strategies for debt service reserve funds shall have as the primary objective 
the ability to generate a dependable revenue stream to the appropriate debt service fund 
from securities with a low degree of volatility.  Securities should be of high quality and, 
except as may be required by the bond ordinance specific to an individual issue, of short 
to intermediate-term maturities.  Volatility shall be further controlled through the 
purchase of securities carrying the highest coupon available, within the desired maturity 
and quality range, without paying a premium, if at all possible.  Such securities will tend 
to hold their value during economic cycles. 
 

D. Investment strategies for special projects or special purpose fund portfolios will have as 
their primary objective to assure that anticipated cash flows are matched with adequate 
investment liquidity.    The stated final maturity dates of securities held should not exceed 
the estimated project completion date. 

 
V.  RESPONSIBILITY AND CONTROL  
  
1.  Delegation of Authority  
  
Authority to manage and operate the investment program is granted to the Investment 
Officers. The Investment Officers for the City of Castle Hills shall be the City Treasurer, a 
then current sitting member of the Castle Hills City Council, appointed under separate action 
by the City Council and the City Manager. The Investment Officers shall establish written 
procedures and internal controls for the operation of the investment program consistent with 
this Investment Policy.  Procedures should include, but not be limited to, references to: 
account management procedures, cash flow estimation procedures, investment transaction 
procedures, authorized dealer selection process, and investment portfolio reporting 
requirements.    
 
2.  Quality and Capability of Investment Management   
  
The City shall provide funding for periodic training in investments for the Investment Officers 
through courses and seminars offered by professional organizations, associations, and other 
independent sources to ensure the quality and capability of investment management in 
compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act.  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 5 of 14 
  

3.  Training Requirement  
  
In accordance with the Public Funds Investment Act, designated Investment Officers shall 
attend an investment training session no less often than once in a two-year period that begins 
on the first day of the City’s fiscal year and consists of the two consecutive fiscal years after 
that date and shall receive not less than eight (8) hours of instruction relating to investment 
responsibilities.  A newly appointed Investment Officer must attend a training session of at 
least ten (10) hours of instruction within twelve months of the date the Officer took office or 
assumed the Officer’s duties.    
  
The investment training session shall be provided by an independent source approved by the 
City Council.  For purposes of this policy, an “independent source” from which investment 
training shall be obtained shall include a professional organization, an institution of higher 
education or any other sponsor other than a business organization with whom the City may 
engage in an investment transaction.  
  
Sources approved to provide training to the City’s Investment Officers include:  
  

• Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA)  
• Government Finance Officers Association of Texas (GFOAT)  
• Government Treasurers’ Organization of Texas (GTOT)  
• University of North Texas Center for Public Management   
• Texas Municipal League (TML)  

 
4.  Internal Controls   
  
The City Manager and Fiscal Manager are responsible for establishing and maintaining an 
internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the City are protected from loss, 
theft, or misuse.  The internal control structure shall be designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that these objectives are met.  The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that 
(1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the 
valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.  
  
Accordingly, the Fiscal Manager shall establish a process for independent review by an 
external auditor to ensure compliance with policies and procedures.  The independent review, 
in conjunction with the City’s annual financial audit, shall perform a compliance audit of 
management controls on investments and adherence to the City’s established investment 
policies.  The internal management controls shall address the following points.  
  

• Control of collusion.  
• Separation of transactions authority from accounting and record keeping.  
• Custodial safekeeping.  
• Avoidance of physical delivery securities.  
• Clear delegation of authority to subordinate staff members.  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 6 of 14 
  

• Written confirmation for telephone (voice) transactions for investments and wire 
transfers.  

• Development of a wire transfer agreement with the depository bank or third-party 
custodian.  

• Documentation of transactions and strategies.  
 
5.  Prudence  
  
The standard of prudence to be applied by the Investment Officers shall be the “prudent 
investor” rule, which states that “Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under 
circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence 
exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, 
considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be derived.”  
In determining whether an Investment Officer has exercised prudence with respect to an 
investment decision, the determination shall be made taking into consideration:  
  

A. The investment of all funds, or funds under the City’s control, over which the 
Officer had responsibility, rather than a consideration as to the prudence of a 
single investment.  

  
B. Whether the investment decision was consistent with the written approved 

Investment Policy of the City  
 
The Investment Officers and those delegated investment authority under this Policy, when 
acting in accordance with the written procedures and in accord with the Prudent Person Rule, 
shall be relived of personal liability in the management of the portfolio provided that the 
deviations from expectations for a specific security’s credit risk or market price change or 
portfolio sifts are reported in a timely manner and that appropriate action is taken to control 
adverse market effects.  
  
6.  Ethics and Conflicts of Interest   
  
Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal 
business activity that would conflict with the proper execution and management of the 
investment program, or that would impair their ability to make impartial decisions.  
Investment Officers shall disclose any material interests in financial institutions with which 
they conduct investment business.  They shall further disclose any personal 
financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance of the investment 
portfolio.  Employees and Officers shall refrain from undertaking personal investment 
transactions with the same individual with which business is conducted on behalf of the City.  
  
An Investment Officer of the City who has a personal business relationship with an 
organization seeking to sell an investment to the City shall file a statement disclosing that 
personal business interest.  An Investment Officer who is related within the second degree by 
affinity or consanguinity to an individual seeking to sell an investment to the City shall file a 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 7 of 14 
  

statement disclosing that relationship.  A statement required under this subsection must be 
filed with the Texas Ethics Commission and the City Council.  
 
VI. SUITABLE AND AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS  
  
1.  Portfolio Management  
  
The City will implement a laddering program as its portfolio strategy to ensure cash flow 
requirements are met.  The City shall have the flexibility should circumstances arise that 
warrant the need to move securities/investments.  
 
2.  Investments   
  
City funds governed by this policy may be invested in the instruments described below, all of 
which are authorized by Chapter 2256 of the Government Code (Public Funds Investment 
Act).  Investment of City funds in any instrument or security not authorized by this policy for 
investment is prohibited.  The City will not be required to liquidate an investment that 
becomes unauthorized subsequent to its purchase.  
 
The City will monitor rating changes in investments acquired with public funds.  Ratings will 
be monitored through websites such as Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s (S&P), and Electronic 
Municipal Market Access (EMMA).  Ratings for active investments will be listed in the 
investment reports presented and approved by the City Council quarterly.  All prudent 
measures will be taken to liquidate an investment that is downgraded to less than the required 
minimum rating.  
  
Authorized  
  

1. Obligations issued, Guaranteed, or Insured by the United States of America, or its 
agencies and instrumentalities, including letters of credit, with a stated final maturity 
not to exceed two years.   

 
2. Certificates of Deposit issued by a bank or by broker approved by the City Council 

and organized under Texas law, the laws of another state, or federal law, that has its 
main office or a branch office in Texas, or by a savings and loan association or a 
savings bank organized under Texas law, the laws of another state, or federal law, that 
has its main office or a branch office in Texas and that is guaranteed or insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance or its successor or secured by obligations in a manner and 
amount provided by law for deposits of the City.  

 
3. No-Load Money Market Mutual funds that are registered and regulated by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, and provides the City with a prospectus and 
other information required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Investment 
Company Act of 1940, continuously rated AAA by at least one nationally recognized 
rating service, and mark its portfolio to market daily.  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 8 of 14 
  

 
4. Local government investment pools, which invest in instruments and follow 

practices as specified by meet the requirements of Chapter 2256.016 of the Public 
Funds Investment Act, are rated no lower than AAA or an equivalent rating by at 
least one nationally recognized rating service, seek to maintain a $1.00 net asset 
value, and are authorized by resolution or ordinance by the City Council.  

 
5. Obligations issued, Guaranteed, or Insured by of the State of Texas or its agencies 

and instrumentalities including obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or by the explicit full faith and credit 
of the United States.  

 
6. Obligations of States (other than Texas), Agencies, Counties, Cities, and other 

political subdivisions of any State rated as to investment quality by a nationally 
recognized investment rating firm not less than A or its equivalent.  

 
7. Interest bearing bank deposits insured by the FDIC or the National Credit Union Share 

Insurance Fund. 
 

8. Fully collateralized direct repurchase agreements with a defined termination date 
secured by a combination of cash and obligations of the United States, its agencies or 
instrumentalities.  These shall be pledged to the City, held in the City’s name, and 
deposited at the time the investment is made with the City or with a third party selected 
and approved by the City.  The following provisions shall apply to repurchase 
agreements:    

  
a. Repurchase agreements must be purchased through a primary government 

securities dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial institution 
doing business in Texas.    

b. A Master Repurchase Agreement must be signed by the bank/dealer prior to 
investment in a repurchase agreement.  

c. All securities purchased under such repurchase agreement shall be held by a 
custodial (safekeeping) agent as approved by the City.  All repurchase 
agreement transactions will be on a delivery vs. payment basis.  

d. The seller of repurchase agreement securities shall be entitled to substitute 
securities upon authorization by the City  

 
NOT AUTHORIZED 
The City’s authorized investments options are more restrictive than those allowed by State 
law.  State law specifically prohibits investment in the following investment securities. 
 
A. Obligations whose payment represents the coupon payments on the outstanding principal 

balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal. 
 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 9 of 14 
  

B. Obligations whose payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the 
underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and bears no interest. 

 
C. Collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity date of greater than 

ten (10) years. 
 
D. Collateralized mortgage obligations the interest rate of which is determined by an index 

that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index. 
 
VII. INVESTMENT PARAMETERS  
  
1.  Maximum Maturities  
  
The City attempts to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements.  
Maturities will be staggered up to seven (7) years to provide adequate cash flow, however, 
provided that not more than 35% of the portfolio shall have a maturity beyond 60 months. 
The maximum dollar-weighted average maturity for the entire portfolio shall be limited to 
365 days.  
  
Because no secondary market exists for repurchase agreements, the maximum maturity shall 
be 120 days except in the case of a flexible repurchase agreement for bond proceeds.  The 
maximum maturity for such an investment shall be determined in accordance with project 
cash flow projections and the requirements of the governing bond ordinance.   
  
2.  Diversification   
  
The City recognizes that investment risks can result from issuer defaults, market price 
changes or various technical complications leading to temporary illiquidity.  Risk is 
controlled through portfolio diversification that shall be achieved by the following general 
guidelines:  
  

• Limiting investments to avoid over concentration in investments from a specific issuer 
or business sector (excluding U.S. Treasury securities and certificates of deposit that 
are fully insured and collateralized in accordance with state and federal law),  

• Limiting investment in securities that have higher credit risks (example:  commercial 
paper),  

• Investing in investments with varying maturities, and  
• Continuously investing a portion of the portfolio in readily available funds such as 

local government investment pools (LGIPs), money market funds, or overnight 
repurchase agreements to ensure that appropriate liquidity is maintained in order to 
meet ongoing obligations.  

  
The table below summarizes the authorized investment and their maximum allocation as a 
percentage of the overall investment portfolio to assure diversification: 
 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 10 of 14 
  

Security Type Maximum Allocation 
1. Obligations of the U.S., or its agencies or instrumentalities 100% 
2. Certificate of Deposits 70% 
3. No-Load Money Market Mutual Funds 50% 
4. Local Government Investment Pools 100% 
5. Obligations of the State of Texas 50% 
6. Obligations of States (Other than Texas) 10% 
7. Interest Bearing Bank Deposits 90% 
8. Fully Collateralized Direct Repurchase Agreements 10% 

 
VIII. SELECTION OF BANKS AND DEALERS  
  
1.  Depository    
  
City Council shall, by ordinance, select and designate one or more banking institutions as the 
depository for the monies and funds of the City in accordance with the requirement of Tex. 
Loc. Govt Code Ch. 105.  At least every five years a depository shall be selected through the 
City’s banking services procurement process, which shall include a formal request for 
proposal (RFP).  The selection of a depository will be determined by competitive bid, and 
evaluation of bids will be based on certain selection criteria. 
 
2.  Authorized Brokers/Dealers  
  
The City shall, at least annually, review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified broker/dealers 
authorized to engage in securities transactions with the City. Those firms that request to 
become qualified bidders for securities transactions will be required to provide a competed 
broker/dealer questionnaire that provides information regarding creditworthiness, experience 
and reputation. Authorized firms may include primary dealers or regional dealers tat qualify 
under Securities & Exchange Commission Rule 15c3-1 (Uniform Net Capital Rule), and 
qualified depositaries.  All investment providers, including financial institutions, banks, 
money market mutual funds, and local government investment pools, must sign a certification 
verifying that the organization has received and thoroughly reviewed the City’s Investment 
Policy. 
 
3.  Competitive Bids  
  
The City authorizes the designated Investment Officer to solicit offerings for investments.  
Generally, the City will seek at least three competitive offerings before it invests surplus 
funds.  The City will accept the offerings which provide the highest rate of return within the 
maturity required and within the guidelines of this Policy.  The City recognizes that a 
competitive offering process is not always necessary or is not always in the best interest of 
the City.  On these occasions, the Investment Officer is authorized to purchase a security 
without seeking competitive offerings.  Examples of these occasions are:  
  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 11 of 14 
  

• Market conditions are changing rapidly.  
• The security is a “new issue” that is still in the primary market.  
• A specific type of security, maturity date, or rate of return is sought that may not be 

immediately available.  
 
4.  Delivery vs. Payment   
  
Securities shall be purchased using the delivery vs. payment method with the exception of 
public funds investment pools and mutual funds.  Funds will be released after notification 
that the purchased security has been received.  
  
IX.  SAFEKEEPING OF SECURITIES AND COLLATERAL  
  
1.  Safekeeping and Custodian Agreements  
  
The City shall contract with a bank or banks for the safekeeping of securities either owned by 
the City as part of its investment portfolio or held as collateral to secure demand or time 
deposits.  Securities owned by the City shall be held in the City’s name as evidenced by 
safekeeping receipts of the institution holding the securities.   
  
Collateral for deposits will be held by a third-party custodian designated by the City and 
pledged to the City as evidenced by safekeeping receipts of the institution with which the 
collateral is deposited. Original safekeeping receipts shall be obtained.  Collateral may be 
held by a Federal Reserve Bank or branch of a Federal Reserve Bank, a State or National 
back domiciled within Texas, which has a capital stock and permanent surplus of not less 
than $5 million, a Federal Home Loan Bank, or a third-party bank approved by the City.     
  
2.  Collateral Policy  
  
Consistent with the requirements of the Public Funds Collateral Act, it is the policy of the 
City to require full collateralization of all uninsured City funds (plus accrued interest, if any) 
on deposit with a depository bank, other than investments.  In order to anticipate market 
changes and provide a level of security for all funds, the collateralization level will not be 
less than 110% of the amount of uninsured deposits.  Determination of the market value of 
the collateral will be calculated monthly or more frequently upon request by the City.   
  
At its discretion, the City may require a higher level of collateralization for certain investment 
securities.  Securities pledged as collateral shall be held by an independent third party with 
which the City has a current custodial agreement.  The City Manager is responsible for 
entering into collateralization agreements with third party custodians in compliance with this 
policy.  The agreements are to specify the acceptable investment securities for collateral, 
including provisions relating to possession of the collateral, the substitution or release of 
investment securities, ownership of securities, and the method of valuation of securities.  A 
clearly marked evidence of ownership (safekeeping receipt) must be supplied to the City and 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 12 of 14 
  

retained.  Collateral shall be reviewed at least monthly to assure that the market value of the 
pledged securities is adequate.  
  
3.  Collateral Defined  
  
The City shall accept only the following types of collateral, as restricted by law:  
  

A. Obligations, including Letters of Credit, of the United States or its agencies and 
instrumentalities  

  
B. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or Texas State agencies and instrumentalities  

  
C. Collateralized mortgage obligations directly issued by a federal agency or 

instrumentality of the United States of America, the underlying security for which is 
guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America  

  
D. Other obligations the principal and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed 

or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Texas or the United 
States of America or their respective agencies and instrumentalities  

  
E. Fixed-rate collateralized mortgage obligations that have an expected weighted 

average life of 10 years or less and which do not constitute a high-risk mortgage 
security as defined in the Public Funds Law  

  
F. Floating-rate collateralized mortgage obligations that do not constitute a high-risk 

mortgage security as defined in the Public Funds Law  
  
4.  Subject to Audit  
  
All collateral shall be subject to inspection and audit by the Fiscal Manager or the City’s 
independent auditors.  
  
X. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS  
  
The City’s investment portfolio will be managed in accordance with the parameters specified 
within this Policy.  The portfolio shall be designed with the objective of obtaining a rate of 
return through budgetary and economic cycles, commensurate with the investment risk 
constraints and the cash flow requirements of the City.  
  
XI. REPORTING  
  
1.  Methods  
  
The Investment Officer shall prepare an investment report on a quarterly basis that 
summarizes investment strategies employed in the most recent quarter and describes the 



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 13 of 14 
  

portfolio in terms of investment securities and maturities, and shall explain the total 
investment return for the quarter.  
  
The quarterly investment report shall include a summary statement of investment activity. 
This summary will be prepared in a manner that will allow the City to ascertain whether 
investment activities during the reporting period have conformed to the Investment Policy.  
The report will be provided to the City Council.  The report will include the following:  
  

• A listing of individual securities held at the end of the reporting period.  
• Unrealized gains or losses resulting from appreciation or depreciation by listing the 

beginning and ending book and market value of securities for the period.  
• Average weighted yield to maturity of portfolio.  
• Listing of investments by maturity date.  
• Fully accrued interest for the reporting period.  
• The percentage of the total portfolio that each type of investment represents.  
• Statement of compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act and this policy.  
• Signatures of all Investment Officers.  

  
The annual audit shall include a review of the quarterly reports and compliance of the 
management controls on investments and adherence to the City’s established investment 
policy and procedures and report any discrepancies to the governing body.  
 
2.  Monitoring Market Value   
  
The market value of the portfolio shall be calculated at least quarterly, and a statement of the 
market value of the portfolio shall be issued at least quarterly.  The source of pricing used to 
calculate the market value will be the values published in the financial section of the Wall 
Street Journal and, as necessary, a third-party agency with access to pricing for securities that 
are not listed in the Wall Street Journal.  
  
XII. INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION   
  
The City’s Investment Policy shall be adopted by resolution of the City Council.  It is the 
City’s intent to comply with State laws and regulations.  The City’s Investment Policy shall 
be subject to revisions consistent with changing laws, regulations, and needs of the City.  The 
City Council shall review the City’s Investment Policy annually.  The City Council shall 
adopt a resolution stating that it has reviewed the policy and investment strategies annually, 
approving any changes or modifications.  
  
  



City of Castle Hills  Investment Policy Page 14 of 14 
  

Exhibit A – Approved Broker/Dealers  
  
The following is the current list of approved brokers/dealers who are qualified to engage in 
securities transactions with the City:  
  
None at this time. 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.4  Discussion and Possible Action regarding a 
request from Wayne Carter and Wade Middleton 
regarding the abandonment of the “alleyway” 
between their properties at 124 Winston Lane 
and 201 Winston Lane. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 12, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and Possible Action regarding a request from Wayne Carter and Wade Middleton 
regarding the abandonment of the “alleyway” between their properties at 124 Winston Lane and 
201 Winston Lane. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

In February, Wayne Carter who resides at 124 Winston Lane and Wade Middleton who resides at 
201 Winston Lane requested the City abandon the “alleyway” between their properties.  At the 
September 9th City Council meeting, this request was presented with no action taken.  One of the 
questions raised during the meeting was whether the property was an easement or right-of-way; 
documents submitted by Mr. Carter confirm the property is right-of-way but the width of the ROW 
remains unclear (50’ or 60’).  I met with Mr. Carter when he submitted these documents, and Mr. 
Carter confirmed their efforts are focused on preventing access to any potential future use of the 
property behind theirs.   

 
The City has the authority to abandon the property and to sell land owned by the City.  The generally 
accepted process is to appraise the property (with a metes and bounds description or survey, which 
we do not possess), solicit bids or utilize a broker to sell the property for “fair market value,” which 
would be determined by the appraisal, and receive the “fair market value.”  The City Attorney 
concurs with this approach.  Mr. Carter and Mr. Middleton’s attorney has drafted a Real Estate 
Purchase and Sale Contract for the property with a cost of $10,000.     

 
One of the necessary steps for the abandonment of City property is notifying all potential easement 
holders and receiving documentation from each utility that the abandonment would not create an 
issue for said utility.  SAWS has indicated their infrastructure would not be impacted by this 
potential decision so they did not have any opposition.  On October 17th, I emailed CPS regarding 
this issue because it is possible that CPS would oppose this abandonment.  Initially, CPS indicated 
they would have no objection, but after I sought clarification that they understood the scope of what 
was being requested, the CPS representative indicated they would need to go back and speak with 
another department.  On November 13th, the CPS representative stated they would need to maintain 
access to their infrastructure.  I have requested clarification if they would accept an easement from 
the private owners or if they would prefer the City retain the ROW. 

 



ATTACHMENT:   
 

REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other X 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 
PROs / CON’s  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Without additional clarification from CPS, no action should be taken. 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.5  Discussion and Possible regarding the 
location of City promotional signs. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 12, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and Possible Action regarding the location of City promotional signs. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

At the March 11th City Council meeting, the City discussed the location of City promotional signs and 
an agreement with TxDOT for the placement of the signs.  Six location were selected: 

1. NW Military north of the Interstate 410 frontage road 
2. Near the NW Military and Lockhill-Selma intersection 
3. West Avenue and Lockhill-Selma intersection 
4. Blanco Road and Lockhill-Selma intersection 
5. Near the Jackson Keller and Palm Circle intersection 
6. West Avenue north of the Interstate 410 frontage road 

 
A TxDOT representative identified the following issues with the current plans: 

• The plans require more details regarding the breakaway sign base; they were not sure 
whether it was a TxDOT standard triangular base; 

• The proposed sign is 72” wide; they suggested a “T” style mount on the back of the sign rather 
than a single post; 

• Sign #2 is facing north for southbound drivers restricting the ability of southbound drivers 
to read the sign because of the width of the road.  They suggested placing the sign on the 
southbound side of the road as you enter the city limits; 

• Sign #4 is too close to the traffic signal light, and likely due to amount of underground signal 
cables and other utilities in the general area, placement of the sign foundation will not be 
feasible.  In addition, this location is outside of the City of Castle Hills. 

• Sign #5 is located outside of the City of Castle Hills and would require CoSA approval 
• Sign #6 is located close to an existing truck weight limit sign and should be moved; the ideal 

spacing between signs is approximately 200 feet. 
 

Councilmember Haley and I met and discussed the following revisions: 
• Sign #2 would be placed across from Los Azulejos along the southbound lanes of NW Military 
• Sign #4 would be placed at the Dogwood and NW Military intersection 

 
 



• Sign #5 would be placed near Gemstone on Jackson Keller or near Antler and Jackson Keller 
• Sign #6 would be placed on private property near the West Ave/frontage road intersection; 

this would require a sign easement from the property owner 
 

To satisfy TxDOT requirements, it may be necessary to hire a survey company to submit drawings 
and GPS locations for the proposed signs.     

 
ATTACHMENT:   

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 
PROs / CON’s  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
This is a discussion item only.  No action shall be taken. 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.6  Discussion regarding adopting a Caste Hills 
Street Light Policy. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 13, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion regarding adopting a Castle Hills Street Light Policy. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

During the past five months, I have received a variety of messages from citizens regarding street 
lights; this includes requests for new street lights, the removal of a street light, the brightness of 
street lights, etc.  A street light policy should define the parameters for installation, including 
distance between lights, LED wattage, number of residents requesting a new light, etc.  One of the 
issues that has arisen was a request to install a street light along a street in the rural residential 
zoning district; my thought was this installation would contradict the purpose of this zoning district.  
Another issue that has arisen was a resident requesting an existing light be removed; I required this 
individual to get the neighbors within 250’ of the light to sign off that they supported the removal.  
I would like to work on drafting a policy and presenting this draft in January for your review.  I 
would welcome a councilmember who wanted to provide input on this. 

 
ATTACHMENT:   

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 
 



PROs / CON’s  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
This is a discussion item only.  No action shall be taken. 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.7  Discussion and possible action adopting 
Resolution 2025-11-18-A regarding accepting a 
state grant for body armor. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 13, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and Possible Action adopting Resolution 2025-11-18-A regarding accepting a state grant 
for body armor. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

Earlier this year, the former Interim Police Chief submitted an application for a Ballistic Body Armor 
(vests) grant from the Office of the Governor’s Public Safety Office.  The Castle Hills Police 
Department has been awarded the grant in an amount exceeding $40,000; there is no local match 
for this grant program.  Attached is proposed Resolution 2025-11-18-A authorizing the acceptance 
of the grant, allocating the match (there is no local match), and designating the city manager as the 
grant designee. 

 
ATTACHMENT:  Resolution 2025-11-18-A 

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution X 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 
PROs / CON’s  

 
 



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Police Chief and I recommend approval of Resolution 2025-11-18-A.  At the December 9th City 
Council meeting, a budget amendment will be presented to allocate the grant funds and reflect the 
state grant revenue.



07318.0002 | 4867-1626-0085, v. 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-11-18-A 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CASTLE 
HILLS, TEXAS, ACCEPTING A GRANT FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS 
FOR BODY ARMOR 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Castle Hills finds it in the best interest of the citizens of 
Castle Hills, Texas that grant number 5332801 be operated for the fiscal year 2025-2026; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Castle Hills agrees to provide applicable matching funds 
for said project as required by the grant terms; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Castle Hills agrees that in the event of loss or 
misuse of the Office of the Governor funds, the City assures that the funds will be returned to the 
Office of Governor in full; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Castle Hills designates City Manager 
Christohper Duque as the grantee’s authorized official.  The authorized official is given the power 
to apply for, accept, reject, alter or terminate the grant on behalf of the applicant agency. 

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Castle Hills approves submission of the 
grant application to the Office of the Governor. 

PASSED, AND ADOPTED on the 18th day of November 2025. 

 
______________________________ 
J.R. Treviño, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Nichole Heinrich, TRMC 
City Secretary 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.8  Discussion and Possible Action on amending 
the Agreement for Professional Engineering 
Services with Halff for construction observation 
services related to the Carolwood and North 
Manton Roadway and Drainage Improvements 
project and authorize the City Manager to sign such 
amendment. 

 SUBMITTED BY: Chris Duque, CM 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 7, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

   ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
Discussion and Possible Action on amending the Agreement for Professional Engineering Services 
with Halff for construction observation services related to the Carolwood and North Manton 
Roadway and Drainage Improvements project and authorize the City Manager to sign such 
amendment. 

 

BACKGROUND  
In July 2023, the City engaged Halff for construction observation services related to the Carolwood 
and North Manton Drainage Improvement project. The not-to-exceed contract amount of 
$128,229.80 provided for construction observations; the fee was based on a 360-calendar day 
project timeline. Halff’s services began on December 13, 2024, with the 360-calendar day plan 
expiring on December 8, 2025. Due to the change orders extending the construction timeline to 
January 23, 2026, it is necessary to extend the contract time. The estimated not to exceed cost for 
the additional work is $43,353.08; this includes an additional 120 calendar days (estimated end of 
construction date April 7, 2026) with 4 to 5 site visits per week.  If the construction schedule does 
not take the full 120 days, then the proposed cost would be pro-rated; the proposed amendment 
does not guarantee Halff will be paid the full amount. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: Halff Work Authorization  

 

   REQUESTED ACTION  
Motion X 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 



   FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item X 
Not Applicable ☐ 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate: $43,353.08 (Bond Fund) 

Amount Under/Over Budget: $ 
 

   PROs / CON’s  

 

   STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval. 

 



 

 
 

100 NE Loop 410, Suite 701, San Antonio, TX 78216 | halff.com  

 

October 1, 2025 

AVO 053587.011 

 

Christopher Duque  

City Manager 

City of Castle Hills 

cduque@castlehills-tx.gov 

209 Lemonwood Drive 

Castle Hills, Texas 78213 

 

Re: Carolwood and N. Manton Project Roadway and Drainage Improvements – Construction 

Observations – Supplemental No.1  

 

Mr. Duque, 

 

Halff is pleased to submit this supplemental scope and fee proposal to extend construction observation 

services by four months beyond the current end date of December 8, 2025.  

 

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING   

The project includes the following: 

 

• The project consists of the roadway improvements for the following street: 

 

Carolwood and N. Manton Roadway and Drainage Improvements 

Street To Be Reconstructed From Length (ft) 

Carolwood Drive Banyan Dr to Lockhill Selma Rd 2,413.96 

N. Manton Lane NW Military Hwy to Lockhill Sema Rd 1,290.18 

 

• Halff will serve as the City of Castle Hills (Owner) project field representative and report to Ardurra 

(EOR) on observed field condition and coordinate materials and lab testing with contractors testing 

lab for quality control. 

 

CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION SERVICES 

Halff will perform construction observation services to observe the construction work for progress and 

quality, and to assist EOR with the primary goal that the work is proceeding in accordance with the approved 

plans and specifications. Specifically, Halff’s scope includes: 

a. General 

• Halff will provide a representative for construction observation services for the project. 

• Halff Representative (HR) will perform periodic site visits for an average estimated on-site time 

of 16 hours per week (4 to 5 visits per week) unless the contractor is not working, or weather 

prohibits construction. 

mailto:cduque@castlehills-tx.gov


 

 
 

100 NE Loop 410, Suite 701, San Antonio, TX 78216 | halff.com  

• Ardurra is the Engineer of Record (EOR) who is responsible for the preparation of the contract 

and construction documents for the Carolwood and N. Manton Roadway and Drainage 

Improvements Project. 

• HR shall have the authority to stop the contractor’s work at any time. 

b. Conferences and Meetings 

• HR will attend meetings with the Contractor. Meetings include: 

i. Progress Meetings 

ii. Job Conferences 

iii. Project related meetings directed to attend by the Owner or EOR. 

• The HR, EOR, the contractor, and the City’s Public Works Director are anticipated to attend 

these meetings. 

c. Communications  

• HR will serve as the Owner’s and EOR’s liaison with the Contractor. The HR will work with the 

contractor’s authorized representative or designee and assist in providing information 

regarding the provisions and intent of the Contract Documents. 

•  HR will assist the EOR in serving as Owner’s Liaison with the Contractor when Contractor’s 

operations affect the Owner’s on-site operations. 

• HR will obtain from the Owner or EOR additional details or information, when observing relative 

to construction is in accordance with plans and specifications. 

• HR will report to EOR when clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents are 

needed. HR will transmit to Contractor any clarifications and interpretations issued by EOR. 

d. Modifications and Deviations from Contract 

• Consider and evaluate Contractor’s suggestions for modifications in drawings or specifications 

and report such suggestions to EOR.  

• Deviations from the Contract Documents will be pointed out by HR to the contractor, EOR and 

Owner will be noted in the HR’s inspection report.  These issues shall be logged and  

tracked for progress.  

• The HR will continue to monitor deviation until the deviation is addressed and resolved.  In  

the event the Contractor fails to address the deviation in a timely manner, the HR shall notify 

the Owner and EOR.  

• HR, with EOR approval, may authorize minor variations in the work which do not involve an  

adjustment in the Contractor’s contract price nor time for construction and are consistent with 

the intent of the contract documents.  These minor variations shall be thoroughly noted and 

documented by the HR. 

• Report to EOR and Owner whenever the HR believes that any part of the Contractor’s work in 

progress is defective, will not produce a completed Project that confirms generally to the 

Contract Documents, or will imperil the integrity of the design concept of the completed project 

as functioning whole as indicated in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged, or does 

not meet the requirements of any inspection, test or approval required to be made; and advise 

EOR of that part of work in progress that HR believes should be corrected or rejected or should 

be uncovered for observation, or requires special testing, inspection or approval. 

e. Record Keeping and Reporting 

• Prepare a weekly report, recording observed Contractor’s and Subcontractors present at the 

site, weather conditions, data relative to questions of Change Orders, Field Orders, Work 

Change Directives, or changed conditions.  Site Visitors, deliveries of equipment or materials, 



 

 
 

100 NE Loop 410, Suite 701, San Antonio, TX 78216 | halff.com  

known weekly activities, decisions, observations in general, and specific observations in more 

detail as in the case of observing test procedures; and send copies to EOR and Owner.  

• Maintain records for use in preparing Project Documentation. 

• Furnish to EOR and Owner periodic reports as required of progress of the work and of 

Contractor’s compliance with the Progress Schedule and schedule of shop drawings and  

Sample submittals.  

• Draft and recommend to EOR proposed Change Orders, Work Change Directives, and Field 

Orders.  Obtain backup material from Contractor. Immediately notify EOR and Owner of the 

occurrence of Site accidents, emergencies, acts of God endangering the Work, force majeure 

or delay events, damage to property by fire or other causes, or the discovery of any Constituent 

of Concern or Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

• Maintain progress photos/videos of contractor’s work. Photos shall focus on subsurface work, 

areas in which problems are encountered, contractor’s nonconformance, and other critical 

areas and items as encountered. 

f. Contractor Pay Applications 

• EOR to review the application for payment with the Contractor for compliance with the schedule 

of quantities, work completed, materials and equipment delivered at the project site, but not 

incorporated in the work and recommend approval or report any observed discrepancies to the 

EOR and Owner. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Miscellaneous services not provided for herein and not generally associated with a project of this type will 

be paid for under an amendment to this Agreement and for an additional fee.  Additional Services, not 

included in the Scope of Services, will be negotiated with the City as needed and will be determined prior 

to beginning such additional service. Fees for services will be billed monthly, based on number of hours 

worked. 

 

The following are assumption used in the fee proposal for these services: 

a. Extended Construction duration of 120 calendar days beyond December 8, 2025. 

Estimated Construction End Date of April 7, 2026. 

b. No overtime, holidays, or weekend hours  

c. Travel time to and from the site is billable (unless inspector is being utilized full-time) 

d. Inspector can bill coordination time with the City, Contractor, Material Testing Lab, etc. 

e. Halff will not conduct any material testing. 

 

DELIVERABLES  

• Site observation reports for documentation of inspection activities and construction work activities 

provided weekly. 

ITEMS EXCLUDED FROM SCOPE OF SERVICES 

• Construction materials testing – Halff will not conduct any material testing. 

• Consultant shall not at any time direct, control, or have any authority over any Contractor’s work 

without prior authorization from Owner or EOR, nor shall Consultant have authority over or be 

responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction 

selected or used by any Contractor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for 



 

 
 

100 NE Loop 410, Suite 701, San Antonio, TX 78216 | halff.com  

security or safety at the project site, nor for any failure of a Contractor to comply with laws and 

regulations applicable to such Contractor’s furnishing and performing of its work. 

• Acquiring Right of Entries 

• Coordination with applicable known utility companies prior, during, or after construction. 

• Design of any kind. 

• Geotechnical services during construction, including geotechnical borings, materials testing, 

compaction testing or sieve analysis of any kind. 

• Permit Fees, review fees or impact fees. 

 

Halff’s Representative shall not: 

 

• Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or substitutions of materials or  

equipment (including “or-equal” items).  

• Exceed Limitations of Engineer’s authority as set forth in the Contract Documents.  

• Undertake any of the responsibilities of Contractor, Subcontractors, or suppliers.  

• Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over security or safety practices, 

precautions, and programs in connection with the activities or operations of Owner or Contractor.  

• Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-site by others except 

as specifically authorized by EOR. 

• Accept Shop Drawings or Sample submittals from anyone other than Contractor.  

• Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part. 

 

Any additional services required beyond those specifically identified in this proposal are beyond the scope 

of services to be provided.  Additional services, if requested, will be separately identified, and negotiated 

and such additional scope and commensurate fee will be authorized under a supplemental agreement to 

this proposal/contract. 

 

FEE AND SCHEDULE 

Fees are on a Cost-Plus Max basis and will be billed monthly at the approved hourly rates based on time 

spent on the project.  Amount will not be exceeded without authorization from the City. Direct costs (mileage, 

etc.) are included in this fee and are charged at actual invoice cost times a multiplier of 1.1.   

 

The estimated fee for construction observation services under this agreement will be for $43,353.08 and 

will not be exceeded without prior approval from the City of Castle Hills. 

 

Assumptions:  

• Extended Construction duration of 120 calendar days beyond December 8, 2025. Estimated 

Construction End Date of April 7, 2026. 

• 4 – 5 site visits per week (16 hours per week for 4 months). 

• Truck and computer included 

• Travel time is billable portal to portal 

• Inspector can bill coordination time with contractor, testing lab, city, etc. 

• Not testing to be provided by Halff 

• No overtime  

 



 

 
 

100 NE Loop 410, Suite 701, San Antonio, TX 78216 | halff.com  

 

 

We appreciate this opportunity to work with you on this project.  If you have any questions or need additional 

information, please feel free to contact me by phone at (210) 798-1895 or email at lcardona@halff.com. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Luis A. Cardona, P.E., LGPP 

Public Works Team Leader / Project Manager 

 

 

APPROVED: 

This work will be performed in accordance with the “Agreement For Professional Engineering Services” 
entered into by the City of Castle Hills and Halff Associates, Inc. dated July 31, 2023. This will be considered 
Addendum No. 1 under Task Order No.7 under this contract. It is understood and agreed that by signing 
this proposal you agree with the above scope and fee. If the scope and/or fee is not acceptable, please 
notify us immediately. 

 

 

By:_________________________________            ______________________________ 

  Print Name                Signature 

 

Title: _______________________________  

           

 

Date: _______________________________ 

 

Attachments: Attachment B: Hourly Breakdown Spreadsheet 

 

mailto:lcardona@halff.com


Fee Breakdown

Project Name:
Name of Firm/Prime:
Date Proposal Submitted:
Project Manager:

Position/Personnel Title

Principal/Partner

Project 

Manager

(Engineer IV)

Engineer 

III

(PE)

Engineer II

(EIT)

Engineer I 

(EIT)

Admin / 

Accounting

Construction 

Inspector
Expenses Sub-total

Fully-Loaded Hourly Wage Rates * (as defined below) $315.14 $242.16 $188.26 $145.96 $122.74 $85.00 $140.00

Task to be performed/Phase Description (including Sub-consultant work) Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Hours Total Hours
Construction Observation Services
       Project Management and Coordination 8 5 13 $2,362.28
       Attend Meetings (Assumes 1 meeting per month for 4 months) 5 5 10 $1,910.80
       Field Observation Visits & Reports (16 hours per week for 120 calendar days) 272 272 $38,080.00

0 $0.00
0 $0.00

Expenses (Mileage) $1,000.00 0 $1,000.00

Total Hours: 0 13 0 0 0 5 277 295

Total Fee Proposal (Not to Exceed): $0.00 $3,148.08 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $425.00 $38,780.00 $1,000.00 $43,353.08 $43,353.08
* A fully-loaded Hourly Wage Rate is defined as an employee's base hourly rate plus labor overhead (including fringe benefits), general and administrative (indirect) expenses, profit and escalation (if applicable).

Luis A. Cardona, PE, LGPP

City of Castle Hills

Fee/Price Proposal Breakdown for Professional Services 

Halff Associates, Inc.
10/1/2025

Carolwood and N. Manton Roadway 

ATTACHMENT 'B'



AGENDA ITEM: 6.9  Discussion and Possible Action on adopting 
Ordinance 2025-11-18-A on recommendations from 
the Zoning Commission concerning short-term 
rentals. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 13, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and possible action on adopting Ordinance 2025-11-18-A on recommendations from the 
Zoning Commission concerning short-term rentals. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

On July 14, 2020, the City Council adopted Ord No. 2020-07-14-B to establish regulations for the 
use of privately-owned dwellings as short-term rentals, to minimize negative ancillary impact on 
surrounding properties, and to ensure the collection and payment of hotel occupancy tax. 

 
On April 8, 2025 after a discussion about the issues surrounding Short-Term Rental properties, the 
City Council approved a 120-day moratorium on the issuance of Short-Term Rental permits and 
directed the Zoning Commission to review and deliberate the existing Short-Term Rental 
Ordinance.  The moratorium was extended on May 13th.  Four public hearings have been held – May 
6th, June 3rd, August 5th, and September 2nd.  At their September 2nd meeting, the Zoning Commission 
unanimously approved Resolution No. 2025-09-02 with recommendations to amend the short-term 
rental regulations. 
 
The recommendations include the following: 

• Short-term rental permit is now called a Short-Term Rental Certificate of Occupancy; 
• Applicants must provide name, address, email address, and telephone number of the 

property owner and the local contact person; 
• STR certificate of occupancy is valid for one calendar year from date of issuance; 
• Total number of short-term rental properties in the “A” Single-Family zoning district and 

in the “B” Duplex zoning district is limited to 1/12 of the total number of single-family and 
duplex properties on a single street.  (single street references a street from end to end, not 
blocks); 

• No STR property shall be within 1,000 feet of another STR property.  The 1,000 feet 
measurement is from property line to property line; 

• A maximum of 10 STR certificates of occupancy shall be active at any time; 
• Weddings, parties or other similar gatherings where attendance will exceed 10 persons are 

permitted only at STR properties located in the “G” or “H” zoning districts; 
• Outdoor activity with noise that can be heard on adjacent property is prohibited between 

10PM and 7AM; 
• The maximum occupancy of an STR is 10 total persons and two adults per bedroom; 

 



• The hotel occupancy tax must be remitted to the City in accordance with state law; 
• A STR certificate of occupancy will not be renewed if three violations of city ordinances 

have been found by the municipal or another court to have occurred on the property during 
the past 12 months; 

 
At the September 9th City Council meeting, no action was taken to approved the recommendations.  
Rather, the City Attorney and City Manager were given general direction to capture the comments 
and recommendations voiced during executive session and to bring back the item at the November 
18th city council meeting.  The two key revisions to the new proposed code are: 

1. Increasing the number of STR permits from 10 to 24 (sec. 50-519.j) 
2. Adding language making the property owner jointly liable for violations of this article (sec. 

50.523.a) 
 
An executive session header (consultation with the City Attorney) has been added if the City Council 
would like to discuss the legal issues of the STR ordinance in closed session.  Item 6.10 was added 
to the agenda in case action was not taken on the proposed Ordinance and additional time was 
needed to continue deliberating on the STR recommendations. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution No. 2025-09-02 from the Zoning Commission & Proposed Ordinance 

2025-11-18-A & Article V. Short-Term Rentals 
 

REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion ☐ 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance X 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 
PROs / CON’s  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
Based on the feedback from the City Council, revisions have been made from the original 
recommendations of the Zoning Commission.  Staff recommends approval. 















CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 50 – ZONING 

ARTICLE V. SHORT-TERM RENTAL 
 
 

 
Castle Hills, Texas, Code of Ordinances  Created: 2025-05-15 07:32:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 13) 

Page 1 of 5 
4904-1971-1059, v. 3 

ARTICLE V. SHORT-TERM RENTAL 

Sec. 50-516. Purpose. 

The purpose of this article is to establish regulations for the use of privately-owned dwellings as short-term 
rentals, to minimize negative ancillary impact on surrounding properties, and to ensure the collection and payment 
of hotel occupancy tax. 

 

Sec. 50-517. Definitions. 

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

City. The City of Castle Hills, Texas. 

Guest. The overnight occupants renting a short-term rental property for a specified period and the daytime 
visitors of the overnight occupants. 

Local contact person. The owner, operator, or person designated by the owner or the operator, who shall be 
available 24 hours per day for the purpose of responding to concerns or requests for assistance related to the 
owner's short-term rental. 

Operator. The owner or the owner's authorized representative who is responsible for compliance with this 
article while advertising and/or operating a short-term rental. 

Owner. The person or entity that holds legal title to the short-term rental property. 

Short-term rental. A privately owned dwelling, including, but not limited to, a single-family dwelling, multiple 
family attached dwelling, apartment house, hostel, condominium, duplex, or any portion of such dwelling or the 
property on which a dwelling is located including (without limitation) a swimming pool, tennis court, sport court, 
pickleball court, backyard or gazebo, rented by the public for consideration, and used for dwelling, lodging or 
sleeping purposes for any period less than 30 consecutive days, but shall not include habitable accessory buildings 
as per section 50-61(a). 

The following are exempt from the regulations under this article: hotel, motel, public or private club, hospital 
and medical clinic, nursing home or convalescent home, foster home, halfway house, transitional housing facility, 
and any housing operated or used exclusively for religious, charitable or educational purposes 

Short-term rental certificate of occupancy. A certificate of occupancy issued by the city authorizing the use of a 
privately-owned dwelling as a short-term rental. 

Short-term rental property. One or more habitable rooms forming a single habitable division within a short-
term rental, or an entire undivided short-term rental, which is advertised to be occupied, is occupied, or is 
intended to be occupied by a single party of guests under a single reservation and/or single rental payment. 

 



 
 

 
Castle Hills, Texas, Code of Ordinances Created: 2025-05-15 07:32:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 13) 

Page 2 of 5 
4904-1971-1059, v. 3 

Sec. 50-518. Short term rental certificate of occupancy required. 

It shall be unlawful for any person or entity to rent, or offer to rent, any short-term rental without a valid 
short-term rental certificate of occupancy issued under this article. 

 

Sec. 50-519. Short term rental certificate of occupancy registration fee and application. 

(a) Prior to renting real property as a short-term rental, an applicant shall submit an application for a short-
term rental certificate of occupancy using a format and method promulgated by the city manager or his/her 
designee. The application form shall require, at a minimum, the following information from applicants: 

(1) The name, address, email and telephone number of the owner of the short-term rental. 

(2) The name, address, email and 24-hour telephone number of the local contact person. 

(3) The address of the short-term rental. 

(4) The proposed occupancy limits of the short-term rental. 

(5) A diagram showing the proposed layout of the property use and any on-site parking available for 
the short-term rental which includes a diagram. 

(6) Owner must submit a deed to the short-term rental property. 

(7) A general description of any food service to be offered to guests of the short-term rental. 

(b) An applicant for a short-term rental certificate of occupancy shall pay to the city a certificate of occupancy 
fee. 

(c) A separate short-term rental certificate of occupancy application and certificate of occupancy fee must be 
submitted for each individual short-term rental property. Each individual short-term rental property shall be 
assigned a unique certificate of occupancy number upon certificate of occupancy issuance by the city. 

(d) Prior to issuance of a short-term rental certificate of occupancy, the operator shall allow an on-site 
inspection of the short-term rental property by a city code enforcement officer to ensure compliance with the 
following: 

(1) The requirements set forth in section 50-520(a) of this article; and 

(2) The requirements set forth in sections 50-520(b)(1) through 50-520(c)(3) of this article. 

(e) A short-term rental certificate of occupancy issued under this article shall be valid for a period of one 
calendar year from the date of issuance. The short-term rental certificate of occupancy shall expire immediately 
upon any change in ownership of the short-term rental property. 

(f) The owner has a duty to notify the city within 20 calendar days, in writing, of any changes to information 
submitted as part of a short-term rental certificate of occupancy application under this article. 

(g) An application for short-term rental certificate of occupancy may be denied if the owner has had a short-
term rental certificate of occupancy suspended or revoked during the previous 365 calendar days. 

(h) The total number of short-term rental properties in the A Single-Family District, AA Single-Family District, 
and in the B Duplex District is limited to no more than one-twelfth of the total number of single-family and duplex 
properties on a single street. An application for a short-term rental certificate of occupancy will be denied if 
granting the certificate of occupancy would violate this provision. 



 
 

 
Castle Hills, Texas, Code of Ordinances Created: 2025-05-15 07:32:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 13) 

Page 3 of 5 
4904-1971-1059, v. 3 

(i) No short-term rental property shall be within 1000 feet of any part in any direction of another short-term 
rental property. Measurement shall be from the property lines of the property which is the subject of the 
application to the property line of other property. An application for a short-term rental property will be denied if 
granting the certificate of occupancy would violate this provision. 

(j) A maximum of twenty-four (24)ten (10) short-term rental certificates of occupancy shall be active within 
the city at any time. If a short-term rental application is received by the city when the city has twenty-four (24)ten 
(10) issued and active short-term rental certificates of occupancy, the application shall be denied. 

 

Sec. 50-520. Short-term rental operational requirements. 

(a) The operator shall post the following information in a prominent location within the short-term rental 
property, using a form promulgated by the city: 

(1) The unique short-term rental certificate of occupancy number assigned to the short-term rental 
property; 

(2) Operator name and telephone number; 

(3) Local contact person name, telephone number, and email address; 

(4) The location of on-site parking spaces available for guests; 

(5) The occupancy limits; 

(6) Instructions to guests concerning disposal of garbage and handling of garbage containers; and 

(7) Notification that the guests are responsible for compliance with all applicable laws, rules and 
regulations pertaining to the use and occupancy of the short-term rental, and that guests may be fined by the 
city for violations of this article. 

(b) The operator shall operate a short-term rental in compliance with the following: 

(1) Zoning regulations prescribed for the zoning district in which such short-term rental is located, 
set forth in Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances. 

(2) Castle Hills Sign Ordinance, as applicable, set forth in Chapter 34 of the Code of Ordinances. 

(3) Maximum occupancy limits of two adults per bedroom and a total of not more than 10 total 
persons even if there are more than 5 bedrooms. 

(4) Castle Hills Hotel Occupancy Tax Ordinance, any Castle Hills Hotel Occupancy Tax Ordinance on 
or after adoption of the ordinance from which this chapter derives. 

(5) Swimming pool barrier requirements prescribed by the Building Inspector pursuant to the 
International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2021. 

(6) Street parking prohibited as set forth in Chapter 44 of the Code of Ordinances. 

(7) Chapter 26, Nuisances of the City of Castle Hills Code of Ordinances. 

(8) Castle Hills Garbage Collection Ordinance, set forth in Chapter 20 of this Code of Ordinances. 

(9) During any period when a short-term rental is occupied or intended to be occupied by guests, 
the local contact person shall be available 24 hours per day for the purpose of responding to concerns or 
requests for assistance related to the condition, operation, or conduct of guests of the short-term rental. The 
local contact person shall respond within 60 minutes of being notified of concerns or requests for assistance 
regarding the operation or conduct of guests of the short-term rental, and shall take immediate remedial 
action as needed to resolve such concerns or requests for assistance. 



 
 

 
Castle Hills, Texas, Code of Ordinances Created: 2025-05-15 07:32:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 13) 

Page 4 of 5 
4904-1971-1059, v. 3 

(10) No mobile food vendor is permitted to operate at a short-term rental property. 

(c) Any advertisement that promotes the availability of a short-term rental, listed in any medium, including 
but not limited to, newspaper, magazine, brochure, website or mobile application, shall include the current short-
term rental certificate of occupancy number assigned by the city. 

(d) A short-term rental certificate of occupancy is valid for one year from the date of issuance. An application 
for renewal must be filed at least 30 days prior to expiration. The holder of a short-term rental certificate of 
occupancy must submit an application for renewal in the format and method promulgated by the city manager or 
his/her designee. A certificate of occupancy will not be renewed if two violations of city ordinances have been 
found by the municipal or another court to have occurred on the property during the last 12 months. 

(e) Short-term rental certificates of occupancy are not transferrable. If the certificate of occupancy holder 
sells the property, the short-term rental certificate of occupancy automatically expires on the date of recording of 
the conveyance instrument in the office of the County Clerk of Bexar County. 

Sec. 50-521. Notification of complaints. 

Complaints related to the operation of a short-term rental, including, but not limited to, complaints 
concerning noise, garbage, parking, and disorderly conduct by guests, shall be reported to the city's code 
enforcement office during business hours and to the police department after business hours. 

 

Sec. 50-522. Compliance with other law. 

The owner, operator, local contact person, and guests shall comply with all applicable laws, rules and 
regulations pertaining to the operation, use, and occupancy of a short-term rental. The owner shall not be relieved 
from any civil or criminal liability for a violation of this article, regardless of whether such violation is committed by 
the owner, operator, local contact person, or guest of the owner's short-term rental. 

Nothing in this article shall be construed to relieve any person or owner of any other applicable requirements 
of federal, state, or local law, rules, or regulations. Nothing in this article shall be construed to provide any 
property owner with the right or privilege to violate any private conditions, covenants, and restrictions applicable 
to the owner's property that may prohibit the use of such owner's property as a short-term rental as defined in 
this article. 

 

Sec. 50-523. Compliance and penalty provision. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person or entity to violate any provision of this article. Proof that a violation of 
this article occurred at a short-term rental shall create a rebuttable presumption that the owner of said short-term 
rental is jointly liable for such violation along with the person whose conduct violated this articlecommitted the 
violation. 

(b) Any violation of this article is a Class C misdemeanor offense and, upon conviction, shall be punished by a 
fine as set forth in section 1-17 of the Code of Ordinances. 

(c) Prosecution under this article shall not require the pleading or proving of any culpable mental state. 

(d) Penalties provided for in this article are in addition to any other criminal or civil remedies that the city 
may pursue under federal, state, or local law. 

 



 
 

 
  Created: 2025-05-15 07:32:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 13) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

4904-1971-1059, v. 3 

Sec. 50-524. Certificate of Occupancy suspension or revocation. 

Upon conviction for a violation of this article, the municipal court judge may suspend or revoke any short-term 
rental certificate of occupancy issued for the same short-term rental where the violation occurred. The city 
manager shall notify the owner of a suspension or revocation under this section in writing, sent by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, and mailed to the address of the owner as set forth on the most recent short-term rental 
certificate of occupancy application submitted to the city. 

Secs. 50-525—50-538. Reserved. 



 ORDINANCE NO. 2025-11-18-A Page 1 of 2 
21911.0002 | 4910-3778-8537, v. 1 

THE CITY OF CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS 
ORDINANCE NO. 2025-11-18-A 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CASTLE HILLS, 
TEXAS, AMENDING SECTIONS 50-516 THROUGH 50-524 IN ARTICLE V OF 
CHAPTER 50 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES CONCERNING SHORT-TERM 
RENTALS 

WHEREAS, after receipt by City officials of concerns related to activities at a property for 
which a short-term rental certificate of occupancy had been issued and concerns that a second short-term 
rental certificate of occupancy would be sought for a property in close proximity to a property with a 
short-term rental certificate of occupancy, city staff met with affected residents in March, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, City residents expressed concerns that the operation of certain short-term rental 
property has resulted in repeated non-compliance with City requirements related to trash disposal, 
parking, and noise; and 

WHEREAS, City resident also expressed concerns that a property located near an existing short-
term rental property had been purchased for use as or conversion to another short-term rental property in 
the same block as the existing short-term rental property; and 

WHEREAS, at its Regular City Council meeting held on April 8, 2025, the City Council heard 
additional citizen complaints about activities at a certain short-term rental property and concerns that a 
second short-term rental property might be established in the same block; and 

WHEREAS, at its April 8, 2025, meeting, the City Council adopted a moratorium on issuance of 
new short-term rental certificates of occupancy and directed the City Zoning Commission to review the 
provisions in Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of the Code of Ordinances as to short-term rental properties 
to address the stated concerns of affected City residents; and 

WHEREAS, at its May 13, 2025 Regular City Council meeting, the City Council extended the 
moratorium on issuance of new short-term rental certificates of occupancy; and  

WHEREAS, the Zoning Commission conducted public hearings on possible amendments to 
Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of the Code of Ordinances regarding short-term rental properties on May 
6, 2025, June 3, 2025, August 5, 2025, and September 2, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, at the four public hearings conducted by the Zoning Commission on possible 
amendments to the City Ordinance concerning short-term rental properties, citizen concerns regarding 
trash disposal, parking, noise, proximity of short-term rental properties, and not renewing short-term 
rental certificates of occupancy of non-compliant properties were addressed by numerous residents; and 

WHEREAS, at the four public hearings conducted by the Zoning Commission on possible 
amendments to the City Ordinance concerning short-term rental properties, citizens also requested that the 
Zoning Commission consider limitations on the number of occupants at a short-term rental property and 
limitations on the number of issued short-term rental certificates of occupancy, among other things; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Commission carefully considered the comments it received during its 
four public hearings on possible amendments to the short-term rental property provisions in the City 
Zoning Code and adopted Resolution 2025-09-02 on September 2, 2025, with its recommended changes 
to the short-term rental property provisions in Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of the Code of Ordinances 



 ORDINANCE NO. 2025-11-18-A Page 2 of 2 
21911.0002 | 4910-3778-8537, v. 1 

in order to address citizen concerns and minimize the negative impact on neighboring properties and 
residents emanating from short-term rental properties; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a public hearing on proposed amendments to Article V 
of Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances concerning short-term rental properties at its council meeting on 
September 9, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council believes that it is important to fairly regulate short-term rental 
properties and to minimize the impact on neighboring properties and residents of non-compliant short-
term rental properties for the benefit of the entire community; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that amendments to Sections 50-516 through 50-
524 of Article V of Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances of the City are necessary in order to protect the 
best interests of the community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CASTLE HILLS, TEXAS, that: 

 
SECTION 1. Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of Article V of Chapter 50 of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City are hereby amended in accordance with the terms and provisions on Exhibit “A” 
attached to this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2. As to the holders of existing short-term rental certificates of occupancy as of the 

date of adoption of this Ordinance, the amendments to Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of Article V of 
Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances of the City will be effective on and after the earlier of the (1) date 
of expiration of the current short-term rental certificate of occupancy for such property, or (2) the next 
renewal of the short-term rental certificate of occupancy for such property and the existing rules for short-
term rental properties are continued for the period prior to expiration or renewal of a short-term rental 
certificate of occupancy in force on the date of adoption of this Ordinance. For any short-term rental 
certificate of occupancy issued after the date of adoption of this Ordinance, the provisions of Sections 50-
516 through 50-524 of Article V of Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances of the City shall be applicable 
upon issuance of the short-term rental certificate of occupancy. 

 
SECTION 3. The City Secretary is directed to, within 5 business days of the adoption of this 

Ordinance, post a copy of this Ordinance inclusive of Exhibit “A” to this Ordinance on the City’s website 
with such posting to remain on the City website until the online City Municipal Code is updated to 
incorporate the amended language for Sections 50-516 through 50-524 of Article V of Chapter 50 of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City. 

 
SECTION 4. This Ordinance shall be effective upon passage and adoption but applicable 

subject to the terms of Section 2 above. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED on this 18th day of November, 2025. 

 
________________________________ 
JR Treviño, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Nichole Heinrich, TRMC, City Secretary 



AGENDA ITEM: 6.10 Discussion and Possible Action to extend the 
existing short-term rental moratorium on issuance of 
short-term rental permits until December 9, 2025. 

SUBMITTED BY: City Manager 

DATE SUBMITTED: November 13, 2025 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2025 
 

AGENDA FORM 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY  
 

Discussion and possible action to extend the existing short-term rental permit moratorium until the 
December 9, 2025, city council meeting. 
 

BACKGROUND  
 

If no action is taken on Agenda Item 6.09 (adoption of Ordinance No. 2025-11-18-A), it will be 
necessary to take action to extend the moratorium on short-term rental permits.  On April 8th, a 
moratorium was first implemented while the Zoning Commission reviewed and deliberated on the 
existing short-term rental guidelines.  The moratorium was extended by the City Council on May 
13th for an additional 120 days and again on September 9th.  The current moratorium expires at the 
end of November 18th.   

 
A additional extension of the STR moratorium would provide additional time for staff and the city 
attorney to finalize the recommended revisions based on the outcome of the November 18th City 
Council meeting.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 
REQUESTED ACTION  

Motion X 

Discussion ☐ 

Ordinance ☐ 

Resolution ☐ 

Other ☐ 
 

FINANCIAL  
Budgeted Item ☐ 

Non-budgeted Item ☐ 

Not Applicable X 

Original Estimate/Budget:  

Current Estimate:  

 Amount Under/Over Budget:  

 



PROs / CON’s  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
If necessary, staff would recommend extending the existing Short-Term Rental moratorium on the 
issuance of Short-Term Rental permits until the December 9, 2025, City Council meeting (21 days).    
 


	1 Agenda
	5.1 251014 CC RM Draft NH
	5.2 Financials ending September 30, 2025
	5.3 Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year 2025
	6.1 rezoning public hearing
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.1a Blanco Application
	6.2 rezoning ordinance
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	Discussion and Possible Action on Ordinance 2025-11-18 on a request from George Atallah, for a rezoning request for 5703 Blanco Road, Castle Hills, Texas, 78213, more particularly described as CB 5008 P-12 (1.155) ABS 526 & P-11A (.312) ABS 526, to re...
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.2a Ordinance re Change zoning of 5703 Blanco Road 4912-2211-0071-1
	6.3 Investment policy
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.3a Res 2025-11-18 Investment Policy
	6.3b Investment Policy FY 2025
	I.  POLICY
	II. PURPOSE
	III. SCOPE
	IV. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY
	1.  Safety
	2.  Liquidity
	3.  Diversification
	4.  Public Trust
	5.  Yield (Optimization of Interest Earnings)

	V.  RESPONSIBILITY AND CONTROL
	1.  Delegation of Authority
	2.  Quality and Capability of Investment Management
	3.  Training Requirement
	4.  Internal Controls
	5.  Prudence
	6.  Ethics and Conflicts of Interest

	VI. SUITABLE AND AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS
	1.  Portfolio Management
	2.  Investments
	Authorized

	VII. INVESTMENT PARAMETERS
	1.  Maximum Maturities
	2.  Diversification

	VIII. SELECTION OF BANKS AND DEALERS
	1.  Depository
	2.  Authorized Brokers/Dealers
	3.  Competitive Bids
	4.  Delivery vs. Payment

	IX.  SAFEKEEPING OF SECURITIES AND COLLATERAL
	1.  Safekeeping and Custodian Agreements
	2.  Collateral Policy
	3.  Collateral Defined
	4.  Subject to Audit

	X. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
	XI. REPORTING
	1.  Methods
	2.  Monitoring Market Value

	XII. INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION
	Exhibit A – Approved Broker/Dealers


	6.4 Wayne Carter request
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.5 Promotional Signs
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.6 street light policy
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.7  Grant
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.8 Halff Agreement
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.8a HALFF work authorization amendment Carolwood and N. Manton Project Construction Observations_Supplemental No.1
	6.9 STR ordinance
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	6.9a RES 2025-09-02 STR's
	6.9b ARTICLE_V.___SHORT_TERM_RENTAL 4904-1971-1059-3
	ARTICLE V. SHORT-TERM RENTAL
	Sec. 50-516. Purpose.
	Sec. 50-517. Definitions.
	Sec. 50-518. Short term rental certificate of occupancy required.
	Sec. 50-519. Short term rental certificate of occupancy registration fee and application.
	Sec. 50-520. Short-term rental operational requirements.
	Sec. 50-521. Notification of complaints.
	Sec. 50-522. Compliance with other law.
	Sec. 50-523. Compliance and penalty provision.
	Sec. 50-524. Certificate of Occupancy suspension or revocation.
	Secs. 50-525—50-538. Reserved.


	6.9c Ordinance No. 2025-11-18-A re Amending Section 50-516 through 50-524 Code of Ordinances 4910-3778-8537-1
	6.10 STR moratorium
	ITEM DESCRIPTION/SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REQUESTED ACTION
	FINANCIAL
	PROs / CON’s
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION




